Sensory & Instructional Structures

Janet Miller Wiseman

Sensory and Instructional Structures

Janet Miller Wiseman

e-Book 2016 International Psychotherapy Institute

From Mediation Therapy by Janet Miller Wiseman

All Rights Reserved

Created in the United States of America

Copyright © 2000 Janet Miller Wiseman

Table of Contents

Sensory and Instructional Structures

Sensory Structures

Visualization

Seeing Clearly

Dream Images

Body Signals

Emotional Sharing

Communication Skills

Paraphrasing

Gender and Communication

Listening

Nonverbal Signals

Anger

Assertiveness

Bibliography

Sensory and Instructional Structures

Most of the people I know are handicapped in terms of sensory ability. There is a tremendous amount of experience that goes right by them because they are operating out of something which is more intense than just "preconceived notions." They are operating out of their own internal world and trying to find out what matches it.

-Richard Bandler and John Grinder; *Frogs into Princes*

You will always get answers to your questions insofar as you have the sensory apparatus to notice the responses. And rarely will the verbal or conscious part of the response be relevant.

—Richard Bandler and John Grinder, Frogs into Princes [2]

Our minds, devoid of collaborating evidence from the actual world, tend to spin their cognitive wheels. Our minds, without understanding from within and sensory information from without, remain in darkness.

Sensory Structures

How frequently do people enter a mediation therapist's office, eyes squinted, brows strained, saying, "Oh, I am so confused; if I do X, I shall lose Y; if I do Y, I will certainly lose X. How will I ever know what I should do?" They are frequently surprised to hear the mediation therapist say something like: You are *thinking* too much. Open your eyes and ears to perceive, to observe what is really happening around you. You seem to be turning your eyes inward, viewing the conflicts going back and forth in your head. It appears to be an evenly matched tennis game, with you as the ball. You may decide it is time to give your mind a rest, to open your heart to experience your own true inner feelings and to be in contact with your intuition and your inner wisdom. You look as though you believe you *only* have a mind from which to receive information. Tune into the sound of your other fine senses. They will inform you at least as well as your mind.

As a mediation therapist, I take the view that sensory information is highly valuable. I agree with Joan Erikson, who said in *'Wisdom and the Senses,* "All that we do have that is genuinely our own is our personal, accrued store of sense data. That is what we really know^[3]." To quote further: "The sense information we have accrued through experience is the most personal and valid content of our minds. What we store up in our heads is the accumulation of experience made available to us through our senses. All the other information we select and gather might legitimately be classed as indirect knowledge based on what someone else has said or written^[4]." Erikson captures the point of congruency that one experiences when the senses and the mind come together in solid understanding: "For the first time my mind and senses collaborated and made the idea manifest. I understood. I knew^[5]."

It is this kind of integrated understanding that mediation therapists strive to help clients achieve—an inner knowing that the decision that they have reached is the right decision, even when it isn't what the person would want if he or she could choose to control all circumstances. Adding sensory information to what the mind knows may be a decisive factor enabling a person to round a corner from confusion to inner knowledge. In *Women's Ways of Knowing*, Belenky et al. stated this concept well: [Women] are aware that reason is necessary, but they know, too , that it is insufficient, that to ignore the role of feeling in making judgments is to be guilty of something like 'romantic rationalism^[6].'" What is needed is not reversion to sheer feeling but some sort of integration of feeling and thinking [and sensory information]. The authors talk about listening to a "voice of integration...that prompted her [a woman] to find a place for reason and intuition and the expertise of others^[7]."

Verbal, conscious feedback is the stuff of the rational structures, described in chapter 4. If, as Bandler and Grinder say in the chapter epigraphs, we tap into the least informative part of the person with our rational queries and responses, we need to learn to tap into other parts of the person.

The sensory structures that concern this chapter are visual, auditory, kinesthetic, and intuitive; they ask people to tap into their own inner wisdom.

Consciously, through being asked and answering the queries of the rational structures, people will have added a wealth of information about themselves. By acknowledging and opening up their senses, people will become more aware of what they know outside of their conscious minds. Not every person will be able to access all kinds of sensory information and need not be required to do so. A man who repeats that he is not a visual person, and does not see any image relating to the discussion, should be asked about what Bandler and Grinder call his predominant sensory "representational system": ^[8] "Which of your senses is most keen; touch, taste, sound, smell?"

I find it helpful to indicate to people my belief in the strength of their inner resources. I share with them my conviction that their knowledge, through their senses, is as important to them as their rational minds. "I believe that you have many inner resources for decision-making and can choose to be more aware of them than you have been to date" is the type of statement a mediation therapist may make to help an individual become aware of all that he or she knows on any level, to, as Brandler and Grinder put it, "induce impetus in the unconscious."^[9]

Visualization

If at least one member of the couple has access to visual, metaphoric imagery, then the mediation therapist may ask that the quality of the

relationship be visualized. For example, a mediation therapist might present a couple with the following sensory exercise: "Imagine you are together, opening a window on yourselves in the garden of your relationship. What do you see? Where are you sitting, working, lying, courting? What is growing there? How many weeds require uprooting? What is the general ambience—relaxed, stimulating, stagnating, desertlike? What little roots are underground just waiting to grow into the daylight?" In this metaphor, viewing the garden is taking an assessment of what is truly there in the relationship, as well as seeing what potential there is for growth. Mediation therapy requires the couple to own how they feel about being in the relationship, what constraints their togetherness puts on the individuals, as well as what spurs there are to growth.

As was stated earlier, sometimes people can acknowledge the reality of their relationship by putting it out in front of them, where they can see it more objectively than by simply using words. All the senses are brought into the picture by the use of the questions asked. People who cannot say that their relationship is floundering may be able to describe a garden that has become a silent desert of sumac trees or a bedroom in which there is no living thing. One woman described opening a door into her relationship. There she saw no people, only junk everywhere. Her husband described the relationship as a small picture that was clearly in the past. His wife appeared dressed in pink, svelte and self-assured. From this picture he commented that it appeared as if the relationship was in the past and that he had idealized his wife, refusing to see and accept her as she is now.

Seeing Clearly

From time to time individuals might be asked to remove any veils they have over their eyes in order to see clearly who they are, who the other is, what transpires within the relationship. A couple might be asked: "How much do you believe you distort how things actually are?" And if they do so a lot, does this *not seeing clearly* make aspects of their life appear to be more congruent, to be more whole, to make more sense? In other words, do they not see things clearly partially because to do so would be inconsistent with how they have told themselves things really are? If she doesn't see that he is spacing out most of the time, she won't have to acknowledge that his drug habit has probably recommenced.

Uptime is Bandler and Grinder's term for only being aware of sensory experience, and not of "internal feelings, pictures, voices, or anything else."^[10] This is the opposite experience from creating a mental, visual picture that describes the relationship. This uptime is consciously, deliberately defocusing from all internal experiences to be aware of everything around. Uptime in my view is seeing without judging, labeling, or distorting. Both types of seeing, internal visualizing and external pure seeing, or uptime are helpful for

mediation therapy clients to know about. Visualizing the relationship can put it into sharper focus for the visualizer and the partner. Seeing what really transpires in the day-to-day world (not judging, labeling or distorting—just simply observing) may open up untold revelations to individuals who have not been using information that has been readily available to them: how thoughtlessly the partner behaves to everyone, how the partner virtually never acknowledges what others say; how agitated the partner has been about her or his work for some time.

Usually the mediation therapist will want to discern for her or himself when it is appropriate for clients to attend to internal cues, to internalizations or visualizations, and when it is most appropriate for individuals to tune out internal thoughts and feelings in order to be acutely aware of what is happening around them. When the mediation therapist understands the value of both types of seeing, he or she will be able to share the value of seeing clearly with his or her mediation therapy clients. Inasmuch as language and words have tremendous power, pictures—both internal and external—may be worth the proverbial thousand words in this intervention. Drawing what they see on a large easel in my office seems to help couples improve their pure seeing and visualization abilities, and the products are typically used as information in the creative problem-solving process.

Dream Images

The pictures that individual members of a couple generate in their nighttime dreams often indicate their inner concerns, contemporary and past. Dream interpretation, often assumed to be the province of individual psychotherapy or psychoanalysis, has great power in a couple forum such as mediation therapy. Long the road to discovery of one's interior wisdom, wishes, and intuition, dreams may be interpreted by mates in the context of mediation therapy in the same way visualizations are.

Deborah Luepnitz, in a recent talk, alluded to encouraging partners to interpret or guess at meanings and symbolism in one another's dreams.^[11] These nighttime pictures are often very valuable in the mediation therapy context. Drawing pictures of dream sequences on the large easel is a fantastic medium for helping individuals translate dream images into understanding.

Body Signals

Words, images, dreams, pictures all convey knowledge to individuals and to partners, but only if they are attended to, only if they are respected as givers of knowledge. Many people respond favorably to learning how to recognize their internal cues and feelings. They enjoy learning to bring clues/cues to awareness as a first step in understanding the messages in their dreams, images, and body (kinesthetic) signals.

Questions such as the following may help people contact their body

cues:

When you think about the difficulties in your relationship over the past X years, do you notice any feelings in your body?

Are the knots in your stomach fear, for certain? Could they be conflict, or tension, or even a sense of adventure?

When you visualize a future together, how do you feel?

Can you leave the past and the future visualizations out of awareness, for the most part, now, and be present with your awareness of the just now?

What does your body tell you about yourself just now?

These questions are invaluable inspirations from neurolinguistic programming. The questions include specific requests to have the part of the person with the internal feeling communicate to the rational mind the message of the feeling. In Bandler and Grinder's words:

One of the ways people really get into trouble is that they play psychiatrist with their own parts without being qualified. They interpret the messages they get from their own parts. So they begin to feel something and they name it "fear" when it may be some form of excitement, or some kind of aliveness or anything. By naming it and acting as if that is the case, they misinterpret communication externally.^[12]

One mediation therapy client learned to listen to the numbness, the nothingness, not of a body part, but of his whole experience. As a soldier, he had seen a lot of conflict in Vietnam and talked about having blanked out his war experience upon return home. This dissociated sense of himself estranged him greatly from himself, his wife, and others. When asked by the mediation therapist if he could be in touch with the parts of himself that were aware and alive during those years, the veteran said that he could. Asked to speak to that part of himself, he said, crying, "I am so damned glad that you're alive." It was the beginning of his regaining lost aspects of himself.

People in difficult situations—war or bad marriages that feel like war do tend to overlook, deny, and distort the traumatic experiences. Helping them contact aspects of themselves in a limited way through the body is a part of mediation therapy that is often excluded from traditional interventions for assisting couples and families in crisis. Psychoanalysis, devised in Victorian times, often behaves as if patients or clients have no bodies to check in with, only psyches and the unconscious.

Emotional Sharing

The business of mediation therapy is to help people become aware of the many cues readily available to them, including those within their bodies. Although mediation therapy may appear to be predominantly a rational or cognitive intervention, with a great deal of structure and control by the mediation therapist, emotional sharing, sensory discovery, and discharge of

intense feelings occur frequently and often at considerable depth. When one of the rational structures is being employed, intense feelings of loneliness, abandonment, or rage may surface, and it is appropriate to deal with these feelings then and there. For example, the rational impertinent question "What bothers you most about your partner?" may be answered. "X works seventyfive hours per week." Along with the expression of dissatisfaction, a surge of intense emotions may accompany the rational response being worked on.

More often than not, emotional sharing and discharge occur with certain of the rational structures. I believe one of the chief reasons for the evocation of strong feelings in mediation therapy is that the rational structure bounds the feelings. It is clear to people that they won't be overwhelmed or swept away by the intensity of their emotion. They are allowed, even encouraged, to feel the emotions—rage, sadness, disappointment—sharply and deeply, and they sense that they will be returned to rational understanding.

Not only do our clients need to be aware of the emotions within themselves, they need to interpret them as accurately as I they can. Acquiring sensory information through eyes, ears, bodies, intuition, and inner wisdom is a necessary precursor to communication with any other person. Lack of inner awareness, of self-knowledge, can only lead to distorted and faulty communication. If a person isn't aware of him or herself, he or she can only speak about the other or the self from a place of incomplete awareness and self-knowledge, rather than from a positive place of self-knowledge.

Communication Skills

Paraphrasing

As previously touched on, paraphrasing is one is the most powerful tools of mediation therapy; it is a way of helping people become aware of what they know, think, and perceive. Paraphrasing may be viewed as taking the probable essence of what someone has said and repeating it calmly to the partner—without menacing gestures or intonation—all the while checking out with the communicator if what you've said was his or her intention. Metacommunication, or the implied message conveyed through tone and body language, is often included in the paraphrase.

Paraphrasing literally translates the person's intended message. In contrast, reframing, another therapeutic tool, attempts a *positive* translation of the message. At the beginning of the mediation therapy, it is a requirement for the mediation therapist to explain the process of paraphrasing, indicating that it involves guesswork on the part of the mediation therapist: "If the words fit, wear them and nod or say yes; if they don't, shake your head or say no." In mediation therapy two critical ways of helping couples begin to hear one another are:

1. paraphrasing

 staying focused on individuals—that is, not allowing a couple initially to jump into their repetitive patterns of communication.

Early on in mediation therapy, people will frequently mention an inability to communicate effectively. This is an ideal time to begin teaching them communication skills. The first part of teaching communication skills is always to attempt to assist the individuals to become aware of themselves, using both rational and sensory structures. Only when they have contacted some essential parts of themselves can individuals begin to think about learning communication skills. The object of knowing oneself within the partnership, at the time of the mediation therapy, is to be able to share one's realities with the other, to be known and understood.

Gender and Communication

In *Love Is Never Enough* Aaron Beck talks about communication training. Never is he more compelling than when he speaks about the "different meanings of talk." Every couples therapist, every member of a heterosexual couple, cannot help but resonate to Beck's description that many women's attitudes are that "The marriage is working as long as we can talk about it," contrasted with many men's views that "The relationship is not working as long as we keep talking about it."^[13]

What bridges does one build to breach this gap between these paradoxical meanings of talk? Bridging the differences between "subcultures" must start with making these differences apparent to the members of a partnership. It seems critical to me that men and women understand that talking means something like connectedness, reassurance, and viability to some women, while it may be a threat to some men, meaning that the relationship may not be viable. When he views her talking, and talking, he must learn to see that she is trying to connect, to be reassured; when she views his being silent, she must understand that he is content, there is nothing critical to discuss.

Beck states, "Women frequently want their partner to be a new, improved version of their best friend^[14]." He says that men view their partners often as their best friends. He calls attention to men's propensity toward finding solutions, while women often desire to be emphatically listened to and so feel hurt and slighted when presented with solutions. A tremendously important gender difference, cited by Beck, is in what men and women regard as important in what their mates tell them. The example Beck gives to illustrate this is a lawyer friend of his

whose wife works in an art gallery, complains that she always wants to tell him the trivial details of who said what to whom while he would like to hear more about the kinds of paintings she is dealing with, her evaluation of them, and specific business details, such as purchasing strategies. He wants the facts and does not see the importance of his wife's conversations

with her colleagues. To his wife, however; what happens between her and her associates at the gallery constitutes the fabric of her working life [15]."

If these differences between men and women make them like different subcultures, different nationalities, or even different races during different epochs, bridges between them would seem to be to understand those differences and pay respect to them, rather than attempts at conversion. Bridges might be created by joining with the other in his or her rituals—for example talking or not talking. Equality between subcultures is not sameness of the subcultures. Although some qualities may be voluntarily adopted by men or by women from each other, they are unlikely to be adopted through coercion. Certainly, when a man or a woman makes the gesture to communicate in a way that is specific to the other gender, that act may well have positive effects within the partnership.

Understanding and respecting gender differences, in general and in communication in particular, seems critical to good communication between members of different subcultures. Women need to respect men, to understand how they communicate differently. Likewise, men need to respect and not fear the differences in their partner's communication. These seem to be necessary first steps to effective communication between the sexes.

Listening

Another, sometimes invisible, step in really learning how to communicate is to perceive the immense power of listening to hear, to understand, to connect. Merely saying what one thinks and what one feels (so overvalued by novitiate therapy clients and sometimes by their psychotherapists) does not connect a person to any other person.

Genuine listening, with acknowledgment, is necessary before the spark of communication may take place. I make the following kinds of statements to a couple in the service of education about hearing, the very active, paradoxically receptive part of a communication:

- "To listen is to have a quiet mind, to focus on what the other is saying and how he or she is feeling; not associating to your own concerns."
- "To hear is to understand what has been said, especially when you don't agree."
- "One should not avoid listening when one anticipates that the other is going to say something with which the listener disagrees." "If I know that circumstances will require my onging interaction with another person [] then I should continue to deal with them now even if I disapprove of their conduct."^[16]

"And it is critical that we acknowledge what we have heard."

Determination to keep a clean channel open to hear what is going on around one is a learned skill. People may be reminded that it may be over many years that they have been partially listening to, or listening very little to what is going on around them and that great efforts at concentration may be required in order to relearn the simple art of hearing.

Nonverbal Signals

As stated previously, in *Frogs into Princes* Bandler and Grinder talk about sensing, in addition to pure hearing: "If you clean up your sensory channels and attend to sensory experience, when you make a statement or ask a human being a question, they will always give you the answer nonverbally, whether or not they are able to consciously express what it is."^[17] If an individual is open, he or she should be able to receive what has been said and to connect to the speaker; if the speaker has no understandable words, good "seeing" powers may often allow a listener to receive a powerful communication nonetheless. Listening to hear and sensing the answer when words don't come are the simple, yet complex tasks initially taught in the communication instruction sequence of mediation therapy.

Some questions may enable people to access sensory information:

"What strong feelings do you have at the present time?"

- "What is the most compelling thing you have *heard* from your partner in the last several weeks?"
- "If you gave yourself permission to use your intuition, what would you know?"
- "If your relationship had little tension and conflict, how would you feel?"
- "What do you know from a place *deep within you* about yourself, your partner, the relationship?"
- "Do you feel responsible for the life, the health, the well-being of your partner?"

The mediation therapist, asking these questions to evoke her or his clients' sensory observations, also uses her or his own senses to receive information that mediation therapy clients are not yet ready or able to put into words.

Anger

More often than not, in addition to learning how to access sensory information, couples need specific instruction in anger management and in assertiveness. Uncovering their thoughts, feelings, and sensory observations gives them a wealth of information about themselves. Conveying what they've learned to their partners requires good communication skills, including the deft handling of anger and the positive assertion of thoughts and feelings.

Given that a couple has learned the modicum of communication skills taught in the first part of this chapter, the mediation therapist will often suggest that a couple read a short book by John Sanford, *Between People: Communicating One to One* or a longer one by Aaron Beck: *Love Is Never Enough.* Those people who don't feel they have time or predilection to read the suggested books and articles will not do so. However, people frequently express great recognition of themselves in the reading and great pleasure in recognition, however painful.

Asking each individual what, in particular, he or she resonated to in the reading seems to reveal some areas the individuals need to work on in themselves or in the relationship. Individuals frequently raise issues for discussion from the reading. If not, the mediation therapist might ask a couple what they think about Sanford's notion that hurt feelings, not expressed at the time, become larger.

The mediation therapist may point out her or his agreement with Sanford, that unexpressed emotions become larger and interfere with communication. Sanford says that rather than just *having* emotions, people frequently behave as if they had *become* their emotions. Mediation therapists try to teach clients to keep their feelings in proportion, remaining much

larger than their emotions.

While giving instruction about communication to couples, some instruction about anger is helpful—for example, sharing the notion that there are many situations in which anger is a genuinely appropriate, normal response. In spite of what children may sometimes understand from parents, being angry does not, in any way make someone bad, undesirable, or unworthy. What one does with one's angry feelings, if socially unacceptable or hurtful to others (for example, hitting and harming one's siblings), is what parents often try to indicate is unacceptable. Unfortunately, children often perceive their angry feelings as bad rather than their subsequent behavior. Mediation therapists express the inevitability of having angry feelings and the necessity of expressing legitimately angry feelings in appropriate ways.

The mediation therapist suggest that people need to experiment. They need to discover what modes of expression satisfactorily discharge their emotion and enable them to move forward. Presenting a two-stage process of expressing anger—the toxic/ affective part first, then getting to an effective expression of the emotion—is productive. Does a person need a physical, visual or auditory outlet to express the toxic/affective part of anger? This stage of anger occurs when adrenalin is running high and a physical or a forceful release seems imminent. In private, some people need an auditory outlet such as screaming or making jungle noises; others need to write or

draw their angry feelings, seeing them "out there" to gain perspective. Still others need physical, recreational, or a punching-bag outlet.

After the private outlet of the toxicity, when the adrenalin was running high, a verbal or written expression of anger is much easier and evolves into the stage of an effective expression of angry feelings. Role playing effective methods of expressing angry feelings provides an excellent learning experience.

During this time of instruction about anger, the deliberate physical, visual, or auditory expression of toxic/affective levels of anger is encouraged but clearly differentiated from the non- deliberate acting out of one's feelings by behaving in avoidant, hurt, and angry ways.

Assertiveness

Instruction in assertive communication may be blended with some of the structures in mediation therapy. For example, the mediation therapist may ask the couple one of the rational structures: "What are the aches, gripes, conflicts, and anxieties between you at this point?" The therapist may then add: "Think about the ways you now know to *assertively* communicate your message so that your partner may genuinely hear you."

Many of the rational structures, described in detail in chapter 4, are

interesting, sometimes provocative questions that the couple answers individually and together. Since they are naturally engaged in mutual questioning already, interweaving principles of good communication is like jumping aboard a moving sidewalk.

Talk of assertiveness is interwoven with the discussion of good communication. Unfortunately, many people associate assertiveness with aggressiveness, which may mean to be actively hostile. One of the meanings of assertiveness is to express or state something positively—even though the expression may involve unpleasant, angry, disappointing messages. Assertive messages are received more kindly, by far, than aggressive messages. Alternative modes of expression are the passive, do-nothing response, and the passive/aggressive, wait-to-see or get-even response. For example, a prominent person in your church or temple asks you, a woman, to bake cookies for a youth group coming from out of town. The range of responses follows:

- *An assertive response:* "I would like to be able to bake cookies. Right now, while I'm working on this book and helping my son get off to college, I am totally focusing on these things. I would be happy to buy some cookies."
- An aggressive response: "I don't bake cookies, for anyone, church or temple, not anyone!"

- *A passive response:* Bake the cookies at 2 A.M. while writing and crying.
- *Passive/aggressive response:* Bake the cookies. Later spread the word widely that the person who asked you is an anti-feminist throwback to a bygone era.

Not surprisingly, many people haven't an inkling about composing assertive responses, relying heavily on the other three alternatives to communicate with one another.

Education about assertiveness and communication, negotiation, disagreement, and decision making are vital components of mediation therapy. I tell couples that to be assertive is not to be hostile, but to be self-confident, clear with oneself and others, and respectful of others. Assertiveness is stating what one needs to say, positively, in a way the other is able to hear. Assertiveness is not an attempt to control, it is being firm, forceful, noncritical, affirming of oneself and the other, positive, and even tempered. In mediation therapy couples are taught to be assertive, to use all of their senses and taught a wide range of communication skills—as a part of assisting them in making sane, important decisions.

Notes

[1] Bandler and Grinder, *Frogs into Princes*, 46.

[2] Ibid., 17.

[3] Erickson, Wisdom and the Senses, 26.

[4] Ibid., 25.

[5] Ibid., 79.

[6] Belenky et al., Women's Ways of Knowing, 129-130.

[7] Ibid., 133.

[8] Bandler and Grinder, 15.

[9] Ibid., 184.

[10] Ibid., 55.

[11] Deborah Luepnitz, "The Therapist and the Minotaur" lecture.

[12] Bandler and Grinder, 142.

[13] Beck, Love Is Never Enough, 83-84.

[14] Ibid., 84..

[15] Ibid., 84-85.

[16] Fisher and Brown, *Getting Together*, 5.

[17] Bandler and Grinder, 17

Bibliography

Bandler, Richard, and John Grinder. Frogs into Princes. Moab, Utah: Real People Press, 1979.

Bazerman, Max. Judgment in Managerial Decision Making. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1986.

Beck, Aaron. Love Is Never Enough. New York: Harper & Row, 1988.

- Belenky, Mary Field, Blythe McVicker Clinchy, Nancy Rule Goldberger, and Jill Mattuck Tarule. Women's Ways of Knowing. New York: Basic Books, 1986.
- Bernard, Yetta. *Conflict Resolution with a Couple*. Boston Family Institute: Perceptions Videotape Series, no date.

Bernard, Yetta. Self-Care. Millbrae, California; Celestial Arts, 1975.

Casarjian, Robin. Forgiveness: A Bold Choice for a Peaceful Heart, Bantum (in press).

Castenada, Carlos. The Power of Silence. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1987.

"Census Shows U.S. Family Households In Decline." Boston Globe, September 20, 1988.

Dawes, Robin, *Rational Choice in an Uncertain World*. San Diego: Harcourt, Brace, Jonanovich, San Diego, 1988.

Erikson, Joan M. Wisdom and the Senses. New York: W.W. Norton, 1988.

Fanger, Margot. "Strategic Brief Therapy." Massachusetts N.A.S.W.- sponsored workshop, North Andover MA, February 10, 1989. Ferrero, Robyn. Final paper for "Conflict and Resolution," Lesley College, summer 1989. Field, Judith. Final paper for "Conflict and Resolution," Lesley College, summer 1989.

- Fisher, Roger, and Scott Brown. *Getting Together: Building a Relationship That Gets to Yes*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1988.
- Fisher, Roger, and William Ury. *Getting to Yes: Negotiating Agreement Without Giving In*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1981.
- Gorman, Ira. "Decision Making Workshop." Portland, Connecticut, 1990 (unpublished workshop)

Greenwald, Harold. Decision Therapy. New York: Peter H. Wyden, 1973.

Grunebaum, Henry, Judith Christ, and Norman Nieburg. "Differential Diagnosis in the Treatment of Couples." Boston: unpublished paper, 1967.

Haley, Jay. Problem-Solving Therapy, 2d ed. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1987.

Langer, Ellen J. Mindfulness. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley, 1989.

- Lidz, Theodore. *The Person: His Development Throughout the Life Cycle.* New York: Basic Books, 1968.
- Luepnitz, Deborah. "The Therapist and the Minotaur: Treating Men in Couples Therapy." Couples Therapy Conference, Harvard University, Continuing Education Program, October 21, 1989.

Mann, James. Time-Limited Psychotherapy. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1973.

Norton, Arthur J. and Moorman, Jeanne E., "Current Trends in Marriage and Divorce among American Women." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 49,1987: 3-14.

Poincare, Henri. "Intuition and Logic Mathematics." Mathematics Teacher. 62 (3), 1969: 205-212.

Roth, Sallyann, "Designing Tasks For Couples That Help Couples Continue Their Therapy At Home" Couples Therapy Conference, Harvard University, Continuing Education Program, October 21, 1989. Rubin, Theodore Isaac. Overcoming Indecisiveness: The Stages of Effective Decision-Making. New York: Harper & Row, 1985.

Sanford, John A. Between People: Communicating One-to-One. New York: Paulist Press, 1982.

Schaef, Anne Wilson. Co-dependence: Misunderstood-Mistreated. New York: Harper & Row, 1986.

Schwartz, Roslyn, and Leonard J. Schwartz. *Becoming a Couple*. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall, 1980.

Smith, Priscilla Bonney. "Mediation Therapy" exam. Lesley College, summer 1987.

- Steinman, Susan, "The Experience of Children in the Joint-Custody Arrangement: A Report of a Study." *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 51(3), July 1981: 403-414.
- Wallerstein, Judith S., and Joan Kelly. *Surviving the Breakup: How Children and Parents Cope with Divorce*. New York: Basic Books, 1980.

Wallerstein, Judith S., and Sandra Blakeslee. *Second Chances: Men, Women and Children a Decade After Divorce.* New York: Ticknor & Fields, 1989.

Willi, Jurg. Couples in Collusion. New York: Jason Aronson, 1982.

Wittes, Simon and Glorianne. Developmental Stages of a Couple Relationship. Unpublished paper.